IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.: 2007-68-00764

HAZEM BARMADA

FILED

APPELLANT

VERSUS

OCT 19 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

ARA K. PRIDJIAN, M.D.

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
. CIVIL ACTION NUMBER A2401-2002-0083

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT WENDY C. HOLLINGSWORTH Law Offices of Wendy Hollingsworth, PLLC 801 Washington Ave., Ste. B Ocean Springs, MS 39564 (228) 875-7530, Telephone Mississippi Bar No. 99411

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.: 2007-TS-00764

HAZEM BARMADA

APPELLANT

VERSUS

ARA K. PRIDJIAN, M.D.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the defendant was protected by qualified privilege.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact regarding actual malice, bad faith, and/or abuse of qualified privilege.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. (Nature of the Case, Proceedings and Disposition)

Dr. Hazem Barmada filed a Complaint alleging defamation against Dr. Ara Pridjian on February 27, 2002. (CP—10). On May 2, Defendant filed his Answer and Counterclaim. (CP—20). Plaintiff filed an Answer to Counterclaim on May 20, 2002. (CP—14). On May 30, 2002, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Disqualify Defendant's Counsel alleging that he had twice consulted with Defendant's attorney regarding the matters which were the subject of the instant action. (CP—22). After the circuit court denied the Motion to Disqualify on September 9, 2002, the Plaintiff filed an Interlocutory Appeal. The Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the circuit court's decision and ordered that Defendant's counsel be disqualified and disgorge his fees. (CP—40). Discovery thereafter ensued, followed by Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP—67). Ultimately, the circuit court erroneously granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. This matter is now on appeal from the circuit court's grant of summary judgment.

B. (Statement of Facts)

Before the court is a slander action involving two Gulfport heart surgeons, the Plaintiff, Dr. Hazem Barmada, and the Defendant, Dr. Ara Pridjian. Dr. Barmada moved to the Mississippi Gulf Coast from Massachusetts in October of 2000. (CP—83-84, 145). Despite having moved to the "Hospitality State", Dr. Barmada soon learned that the atmosphere at Memorial Hospital at Gulfport was anything but hospitable. The self-proclaimed "dominant surgeon", Dr. Pridjian, did not like Dr. Barmada from the start. (CP—144). Dr. Pridjian testified that he saw Dr. Barmada as his competition and that he wanted Dr. Barmada gone.

- (CP—152). Registered Nurse First Assistant David Kutlina submitted an Affidavit stating as follows:
 - I, David Kutlina, after first being duly sworn, do depose and state on my oath the following:
 - 1. I David Kutlina, have personal knowledge of the following facts or events.
 - 2. I am a Registered Nurse First Assistant. I have been a Registered Nurse for 26 years and a Registered Nurse First Assistant for 6 years.
 - 3. I worked as an independent contractor at Memorial Hospital at Gulfport for approximately 22 months.
 - 4. During the time that I worked at Memorial Hospital at Gulfport, I had the opportunity to work as First Assistant on numerous occasions to both Doctor Hazem Barmada and Dr. Ara K. Pridjian.
 - 5. I found Dr. Barmada to be a joy to work with. Dr. Barmada is a highly competent heart surgeon, very professional, a perfect gentleman, and a respectable man. He does not lose his temper and he does not show frustration or arrogance during procedures. Dr. Barmada had consistently good outcomes with his procedures. I would prefer working with Dr. Barmada over any other cardiac surgeon and I have worked with hundreds over the years.
 - 6. During those times that I served as a First Assistant to Dr. Ara K. Pridjian, I heard him wrongfully slander and defame Dr. Hazem Barmada countless times in front of the heart team while procedures were being performed.
 - 7. When I was assisting Dr. Pridjian, it seemed that he never missed an opportunity to tell others that Dr. Barmada had 'terrible results', that he was a 'lousy surgeon', an 'incompetent surgeon', a 'horrible surgeon' and other like defamatory words which imputed upon Dr. Barmada an unfounded charge of lack of capacity in his profession as a heart surgeon.
 - 8. Dr. Pridjian made it his quest to run Dr. Barmada out of town for no legitimate reason. Dr. Pridjian served as a ring leader in his attempts to turn the surgical team against Dr. Barmada without just cause. It was quite obvious that Dr. Pridjian's agenda was to get rid of Dr. Barmada."

(CP—191-92). (RE-15-16)

Dr. Pridjian, while mostly quite careful with his language during in his deposition, did admit that he found Dr. Barmada to be a "problem surgeon. At the time, he had made himself the focus of an investigation. At the time, he was making life difficult for the operating room, and they were reporting it and talking about it. At the time, he was talked about." (CP—157). Dr. Pridjian admitted that he told others that he found Dr. Barmada to be "difficult, arrogant, someone who makes problems, someone who ties up the operating team for hours, someone who ties them up in knots". (CP—156-57). He admitted that he had engaged in conversation in the doctors' lounge and surgeons' lounge from time to time about Dr. Barmada's skills and interpersonal relationships. (CP—157). Dr. Pridjian admitted that before Dr. Barmada's competency was completely vindicated by the external reviewer, Dr. Robison, who was called in to get to the bottom of the unfortunate situation, that Dr. Pridjian spoke with others about Dr. Barmada's "faults" as much as a few times a day for a few months. (CP—158).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in its decision to grant summary judgment in favor of the Defendant as genuine issues of material fact remain in dispute and the Defendant is not entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. All evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-movant, and the court should presume that all evidence in the non-movant's favor is true. *Daniels v. GNB, Inc.*, 629 So. 2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993). The non-movant should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt, as the burden of demonstrating no genuine issue of material fact exists rests upon the moving party. *Smith v. Sanders*, 485 So. 2d 1051, 1054 (Miss. 1986).

Plaintiff sufficiently opposed the Motion for Summary Judgment by, *inter alia*, providing an Affidavit by a competent witness who clearly illustrated that Dr. Pridjian had committed non-privileged slander per se by repeatedly telling others that "Dr. Barmada had 'terrible results', that he was a 'lousy surgeon', an 'incompetent surgeon', a 'horrible surgeon' and other like defamatory words which imputed upon Dr. Barmada an unfounded charge of lack of capacity in his profession as a heart surgeon."

The lower court erroneously concluded that Dr. Pridjian's statements were subject to a qualified privilege on the sole basis that the slanderous statements were made to the heart team and other medical personnel. The court held that Plaintiff could only prevail upon a showing actual malice, which the court found that Plaintiff had failed to do. The court erroneously failed to consider evidence of bad faith or abuse of qualified privilege, which would have clearly demonstrated that the slanderous statements were not privileged. Furthermore, evidence of malice is found in Nurse Kutlina's Affidavit whereby he recounted specific acts of slander per se and stated, "Dr. Pridjian made it his quest to run Dr. Barmada out of town for no legitimate

reason. Dr. Pridjian served as a ring leader in his attempts to turn the surgical team against Dr. Barmada without just cause. It was quite obvious that Dr. Pridjian's agenda was to get rid of Dr. Barmada." (RE—17-19). Furthermore, Dr. Pridjian himself testified that he saw Dr. Barmada as his competition and that he wanted his competition gone and that Dr. Pridjian spoke with others about Dr. Barmada's "faults" as many as a few times a day for a few months. (CP—152-58). The lower court also erred by refusing to consider the report of the independent examiner utilized by both parties in the summary judgment proceedings for any evidence favorable to the Plaintiff (though the court did utilize the independent examiner's reports for some purposes).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Orders granting or denying summary judgment are subject to a *de novo* review. *Cities of Oxford v. Northeast Mississippi Electric Power Assn*, 704 So. 2d 59, 64 (Miss. 1997). As provided by Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 56, summary judgment is only appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." M.R.C.P. 56. "If there is a doubt as to whether there exists a genuine issue of material fact, the non-movant receives the benefit of that doubt It is reversible error for the trial court to substitute summary judgment for a jury's consideration of disputed factual issues if material to the case. *Downs v. Choo*, 656 So. 2d 84, 85-86 (Miss. 1995).

A motion for summary judgment lies only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and is not a substitute for a trial of disputed fact issues, nor is summary judgment to be used to deprive a litigant of a full trial of genuine fact issues. *Dethlefs v. Beau Maison Development*

Corp., 458 So. 2d 714, appeal after remand 511 So. 2d 112 (Miss. 1984). See also Garrett v. Northwest Miss. Jr. College, 674 So. 2d 1 (Miss. 1996). A fact is "material" for purposes of summary judgment if it tends to resolve any of the issues properly raised by the parties. Morgan v. City of Ruleville, 627 So. 2d 275 (Miss. 1993); Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, No. 4057, Inc., 519 So. 2d 413 (Miss. 1988); Pearl River County Bd. of Sup'rs v. South East Collections Agency, Inc., 459 So. 2d 783 (Miss. 1984).

If any triable issues of fact exist, the lower court's decision to grant summary judgment will be reversed. Estate of Johnson v. Chatelain, 943 So.2d 684, (Miss. 2006) (citing Miller v. Meeks, 762 So.2d 302, 304 (Miss. 2000). It is not the court's duty to weigh the competing evidence; it is the court's duty to determine if there is conflicting evidence for trial. Id. All evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-movant, and the court should presume that all evidence in the non-movant's favor is true. Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So. 2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993); McFadden v. State, 580 So. 2d 1210, 1214 (Miss. 1991); Webster v. Mississippi Publishers Corp., 571 So. 2d 946, 949 (Miss. 1991); Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center, Inc., 564 So. 2d 1346, 1354 (Miss. 1990); Brown v. Credit Center, Inc., 444 So.2d 358 (Miss. 1983). The non-movant should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt, as the burden of demonstrating no genuine issue of material fact exists rests upon the moving party. Smith v. Sanders, 485 So. 2d 1051, 1054 (Miss. 1986).

I. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the defendants were protected by qualified privilege.

The tort of defaming a person's character or reputation through the spoken word is actionable under the common law doctrine of slander. *McFadden v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co.*, 766 So.2d 20 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing W. PAGE KEETON ET AL.,

PROSSER AND KEETON ON THE LAW OF TORTS § 111 (5th ed.1984)). For a statement to be defamatory, the statement must tend to injure one's reputation, to "diminish the esteem, respect, goodwill, or confidence in which [one] is held," or to "excite adverse, derogatory or unpleasant feelings or opinions" against one. *Speed v. Scott*, 787 So.2d 626, 631 (Miss. 2001) (quoting Prosser & Keeton on the Law of Torts §111, at 771 (5th ed. 1984). Any attack on the capabilities of a plaintiff in his trade or profession (so long, only, as the trade or profession is a legal one) constitutes slander per se. *McFadden v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co.*, 766 So.2d 20 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *W.T. Farley, Inc. v. Bufkin*, 159 Miss. 350, 132 So. 86, 87 (1931).

Nurse Kutlina, testifying by Affidavit, unequivocally stated that, "During those times that I served as a First Assistant to Dr. Ara K. Pridjian, I heard him wrongfully slander and defame Dr. Hazem Barmada countless times in front of the heart team while procedures were being performed." He further testified, "When I was assisting Dr. Pridjian, it seemed that he never missed an opportunity to tell others that Dr. Barmada had 'terrible results', that he was a 'lousy surgeon', an 'incompetent surgeon', a 'horrible surgeon' and other like defamatory words which imputed upon Dr. Barmada an unfounded charge of lack of capacity in his profession as a heart surgeon." (CP—191-192) (RE—15-16). This is, by definition, slander per se.

In its Final Judgment, the circuit court correctly recognized the holding in *Eckman v*. *Cooper Tire & Rubber Company*, 893 So.2d 1049 (Miss. 2005), which provides that Mississippi courts employs a bifurcated process when analyzing defamation claims by first determining whether the occasion calls for a qualified privilege, and then, if a qualified privilege does exist, determining whether the privilege is overcome by malice, bad faith, or abuse. *Eckman v. Cooper Tire & Rubber Company*, 893 So.2d 1049 (Miss. 2005).

A communication made in good faith and on a subject matter in which the person making it has an interest, or in reference to which he has a duty, is privileged if made to a person or persons having a corresponding interest or duty, even though it contains matter which without this privilege would be slanderous, provided the statement is made without malice and in good faith."

Id. at 1052 (emphasis added).

Dr. Pridjian's statements were not subject to qualified privilege. According to the Affidavit of Nurse Kutlina, Dr. Pridjian repeatedly slandered Dr. Barmada in front of the heart team and other medical personnel. Dr. Pridjian and Dr. Barmada were both heart surgeons in the same hospital and they relied on the same heart team. Dr. Pridjian would go into the operating room and slander Dr. Barmada, repeatedly telling the nurses, anesthesiologists, perfusionists scrub tech, assistant scrub tech, nurse first assistant, nurses, and other medical personnel that Dr. Barmada had 'terrible results', that he was a 'lousy surgeon', an 'incompetent surgeon', a 'horrible surgeon' and other like defamatory words which imputed upon Dr. Barmada an unfounded charge of lack of capacity in his profession as a heart surgeon. (CP—144, 191-92). How could these repeated slanders have been made in good faith? The only purpose could have been to undermine those people's confidence in Dr. Barmada, who they would later be asked to assist in surgeries, thus furthering Dr. Pridjian's goal of eliminating his competition. (CP—152).

By his own admission, Dr. Pridjian would go into the doctors' lounge and the surgeons' lounge, places where he was sure to see people in a position to provide Dr. Barmada with referrals, and disparage Dr. Barmada's "skills" and "interpersonal relationships". (CP—156) (RE—17). He admitted speaking to referring physicians regarding his negative opinions of Dr. Barmada:

Ms. Hollingsworth: Have you ever told any other doctors that in your opinion they should not refer a patient or patients to Dr. Barmada because you felt he was not competent or other words to that effect?

Dr. Pridjian: If I did, I don't recall saying that Dr. Barmada was not competent to referring doctors.

Q: You stated earlier in your deposition that you didn't typically use the term "competent" or "incompetent." Do you recall that?

A: Yes.

- Q: What phrase or words would you use to convey that same message? Certainly, after Dr. Barmada's external review, there was no stated concern of his competence. Before then, there were issues that were being brought up in the operating room, as I explained to you, and when asked about them, I would report them as I understood them.
- Q: I don't think you understood what I was asking. You testified earlier that you don't use the words "competent" or "incompetent." That implies to me that you would use some other words or phrase to get across that same message.
- A: I think the adjectives might be and again, we're talking about Dr. Barmada at that point in time. I think the adjectives would be difficult, arrogant, someone who makes problems, someone who ties up the operating team for hours, someone who ties them up in knots.

(CP—156-57) (RE—17-18). Dr. Pridjian estimated that before Dr. Barmada's competency was completely vindicated by the external reviewer, Dr. Robison, who was called in to get to the bottom of the unfortunate situation, that Dr. Pridjian spoke with others about Dr. Barmada's "faults" as much as a few times a day for a few months. (CP—158).

These slanderous statements made by Dr. Pridjian were not made in the context of voicing official complaints up the chain of command to hospital administrators or in a peer review setting as was the case in *Hayden v. Foryt*, 407 So.2d 535 (Miss. 1982) (hereinafter more thoroughly discussed). It was a doctor repeatedly slandering his competition, whom he wanted to be rid of. In a parallel line of cases concerning slander in the context of "retention, tenure, and termination of college faculty members", the Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that publication of slanderous statements "outside the circle of <u>decision-makers</u> is not privileged".

Holland v. Kennedy, 548 So.2d 982 (Miss. 1989) (citing Webster v. Byrd, 494 So.2d 31, 35 (Ala. 1986)). There certainly should not be in blanket immunity in the context of all hospital personnel, as was argued by Defendant and accepted by the trial court judge, simply because the doctor was slandered to his peers and colleagues. (TR—19). Could there be worse groups of people to slander a professional to that his peers and colleagues? What we are talking about here is tantamount to a lawyer repeatedly going to the courthouse and telling every lawyer, court administrator, judge, court reporter, and deputy clerk who he runs into that Lawyer X is an "incompetent lawyer" has "terrible results", is a 'lousy lawyer", a "horrible lawyer". Does merely the fact that these statements are made within the confines of the courthouse make them privileged? Of course not. Then certainly it is error to conclude that all members of the "cardiac and heart related personnel" are within the circle of protection of qualified privilege. The fact that the slanderous statements are made to a professional's peers and colleagues makes them all the worse. However, Dr. Pridjian himself admitted he published negative statements regarding Dr. Barmada to someone outside of the hospital: his wife. (TR—28).

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT REGARDING ACTUAL MALICE, BAD FAITH, AND/OR ABUSE OF QUALIFIED PRIVILEGE.

Even, arguendo, if a qualified privilege existed, which is denied, Dr. Barmada submitted sufficient evidence of malice, bad faith, and/or abuse of the privilege to create a jury question. Even where a qualified privilege exists, it may be overcome by malice, bad faith, or abuse. *Eckman v. Cooper Tire & Rubber Company*, 893 So.2d 1049, (Miss. 2005). The lower court erred, by failing to fully consider what constitutes "abuse", and by failing to consider all the evidence in the record substantiating malice, bad faith, and/or abuse.

A. Abuse of Qualified Privilege

The issue of abuse of a qualified privilege was discussed in the case of *Garziano v. E.I.*Du Pont Nemours & Co., 818 F.2d 380 (5th Cir. 1987), which was cited with approval by the Mississippi Supreme Court in Eckman v. Cooper Tire & Rubber Company, 893 So.2d 1049, (Miss. 2005). In Garziano, the court held:

The law also allows a jury to find that a qualified privilege was abused by excessive publication. There are two ways to abuse a qualified privilege. First, the defense of qualified privilege may not be invoked if the scope of the statements exceeded what was necessary. The language used "must be careful to go no further than [the declarant's] interest or duties require." *McCrory Corp. v. Istre*, 252 Miss. 679, 173 So.2d 640, 646 (1965). Secondly, a qualified privilege does not protect a defamatory statement where there is excessive publication to persons not within the "circle" of those people who have a legitimate and direct interest in the subject matter of the communication. *Hayden v. Foryt, supra*, 407 So.2d at 536; *Love v. Commercial Casualty Insurance Co.*, 26 F.Supp. 481 (S.D.Miss.1939).

Although the qualified privilege does not provide a defense if the scope of the statement exceeded what was necessary, the fact that Du Pont "used strong words ... is no evidence of malice. The fact that the expressions are angry and intemperate is not enough; the proof must go further and show that they are malicious." Scott-Burr Stores Corp. v. Edgar, 181 Miss. 486, 177 So. 766 (1938). In essence, the statement is not privileged if the person claiming the privilege could have done all his interest or duty demanded without defaming the plaintiff.

Garziano v. E.I. Du Pont Nemours & Co., 818 F.2d 380, 391-92 (5th Cir. 1987)

1. Scope of Statements Exceeded What Was Necessary

"The defense of qualified privilege may not be invoked if the scope of the statements exceeded what was necessary. The language used 'must be careful to go no further than [the declarant's] interest or duties require.' *McCrory Corp. v. Istre,* 252 Miss. 679, 173 So.2d 640, 646 (1965).

The protection of a qualified privilege may be lost by the manner of its exercise, although belief in the truth of the charge exists. The privilege does not protect any unnecessary defamation. In order for a communication to be privileged, the person making it must be careful to go no further than its interests or his duties require. Where the person exceeds his privilege and the communication complained of goes beyond what the occasion demands that he should publish, and is unnecessarily defamatory of plaintiff, he will not be protected, and the fact that a duty, a common interest, or a confidential relation existed to a limited degree is not a defense, even though he acted in good faith.

McCrory Corp. v. Istre, 252 Miss. 679 173 So.2d 640 (Miss. 1965).

The Mississippi Supreme Court, in the case of Southwest Drug Stores of Miss., Inc. v. Garner; 195 So.2d 837 (Miss. 1967), provided an example of how a qualified privilege may be lost by statements exceeding what is necessary:

Appellants argue that Ratcliff had observed Mrs. Garner and believed by her actions that she was committing an act of shoplifting; that her actions gave him probable cause to investigate, and that he acted in good faith and upon an occasion of privilege in carrying out his duties to protect his employer's property.

Although the occasion was one of qualified privilege, the privilege was lost by the manner in which it was exercised. Mrs. Garner testified, and the jury found, that she was wrongfully accused of stealing in a rude and loud voice in the presence of other people outside the place of business. Granting that Ratcliff had reason to believe that Mrs. Garner had put a bar of soap in her purse and left the store without paying for it, and that he had probable cause to make inquiry, still he was careless and negligent in his method of ascertaining whether Mrs. Garner had paid for the soap.

Had Ratcliff asked the cashier if Mrs. Garner had paid for a bar of soap, he would have ascertained that she had. Instead, he asked if she had paid for a bar of Lowilla soap. Then, instead of making inquiry in a reasonable manner, he accused Mrs. Garner of stealing a bar of soap. When he did so he exceeded the qualified privilege. In order for a communication to be privileged the person making it must be careful to go no further than his interest or duties require. Sumner Stores v. Little, 187 Miss. 310, 192 So. 857 (1939).

Whether privilege is available as a defense may depend on the manner in which the communication is made. The protection of a qualified privilege may be lost by the manner of its exercise, although belief in the truth of the charge exists. *Mc-Crory Corp. v. Istre*, 252 Miss. 679, 173 So.2d 640

(1965); Montgomery Ward & Co. v. Skinner, 200 Miss. 44, 25 So.2d 572 (1946).

Southwest Drug Stores of Miss., Inc. v. Garner; 195 So.2d 837 (Miss. 1967). Just as the store clerk when too far when he rudely and loudly accused Mrs. Garner of stealing, Dr. Pridjian also went too far. By repeated telling the medical personnel that Dr. Barmada was an "incompetent surgeon", "horrible surgeon", "lousy surgeon", in front of Nurse Kutlina, Dr. Pridjian was certainly not careful to go no further than whatever his interests or his duties—assuming there were any—required. Dr. Pridjian clearly exceeded any privilege and the communications complained of went beyond what the occasion may have allowed him to publish. He unnecessarily defamed Dr. Barmada, and he cannot be protected under the law. McCrory Corp. v. Istre, 252 Miss. 679 173 So.2d 640 (Miss. 1965). "In essence, the statement is not privileged if the person claiming the privilege could have done all his interest or duty demanded without defaming the plaintiff." Garziano v. E.I. Du Pont Nemours & Co., 818 F.2d 380, 391-92 (5th Cir. 1987).

2. Excessive Publication to Persons Not Within Circle

This Court is committed to the rule that although the law guards jealously the enjoyment of a good reputation, public policy, good morals, the interests of society, and sound business principles demand that an employer, or his representative, should be permitted to discuss freely with an employee charges made against an employee affecting the latter's employment. On such occasions there is a qualified privilege, and statements made within the scope of the privilege, in good faith and without malice, are not actionable. *Killebrew v. Jackson City Lines, Inc.*, 225 Miss. 84, 82 So.2d 648 (1955). (339 So.2d at 572)

And: When qualified privilege is established, statements or written communications are not actionable as slanderous or libelous absent bad faith or malice if the communications are limited to those persons who have a legitimate and direct interest in the subject matter. The qualified privilege may be likened to a circle insofar as its area of protection is concerned. Depending upon the circumstances, the circle encloses those people who have a legitimate and direct interest in the subject matter of the communication, and publication to them is not actionable. If

publication is made to persons outside the circle---those not having a legitimate and direct interest in the subject matter of the communication---the protection of the privilege may not be invoked.

Hayden v. Foryt, 407 So.2d 535 (Miss. 1982) (quoting Benson v. Hall, 339 So.2d 570, 573 (Miss.1976)) (emphasis added).

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