# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO: 2007-TS-00764

HAZEM BARMADA	APPELLANT
VERSUS	
ARA K. PRIDJIAN	APPELLEE
BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE ARA K. PRIDJIAN	
DRIEF OF THE APPELLEE ARA K. PRIDJIAN	
Oral Argument Not Requested	
Oral Argument Not Requested	

NICHOLSON & NICHOLSON
Gail D. Nicholson, MSB
Chester D. Nicholson, MSB
P.O. Box 162
Gulfport, MS 39502
Phone: (228) 868-3288

Fax: (228) 863-1818

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The following persons may have an interest in the outcome of this case:

- 1. Hazem Barmada, Appellant/Plaintiff
- 2. Ara K. Pridjian, Appellee/Defendant

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

#### II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The final judgment and opinion entered by the Circuit Court granting Dr.

Pridjian's Motion for Summary Judgment is soundly reasoned and completely supported by legal precedent cited by the Circuit Judge. The record before the Court contained absolutely no proof of any statements, slanderous or other, that were made to anyone outside the cardiac and associated healthcare community who worked with Dr. Barmada and Dr. Pridjian.

The record is replete with evidence expressing criticism of Dr. Barmada by individuals from this healthcare community establishing that they were persons having "an interest" in the subject matter such as would operate inside a qualified privilege as established in *Young v. Jackson*, 572 So. 2d 378, 383 (Miss. 1990) and cases cited therein. The trial court carefully considered the one affidavit produced by Dr. Barmada, out of the sixty witnesses he claimed to have in his answers to discovery, and found that the affidavit was so vague and generalized as to be of no evidentiary value for purposes of determining malice. This is entirely consistent with the standard set in *Jacox v. Circus Circus Mississippi, Inc.* 907 So.2d 181, 184, (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

The fact that Dr. Pridjian was privy to heart team discussions of Dr. Barmada which were less than complimentary and which may have included strong words, does not evidence malice. see *Jacox supra*.

One vague, conclusory affidavit after five years of litigation is simply not sufficient nor competent evidence so as to preclude entry of judgment, and the Trial Judge was correct in his evaluation of the affidavit.

The summarized testimony referenced in Dr. Barmada's brief, (p. 6), cited to R.E. 17-19, corresponds only to questions asked at a deposition by counsel for Barmada from a hearsay document which has no evidentiary value before this Court. Barmada declined to produce the author of the report by deposition or affidavit and thus the hearsay report was appropriately rejected as evidence by the Trial Court.

Dr. Pridjian referenced the report merely to note that there were statements against Dr. Barmada's interest in the report which he was attempting to sponsor, i.e. it confirmed his higher than average mortality rate, and the death of his patient due to his

excessive clamp-time. The deficiencies of the investigation undertaken by the independent examiner were addressed by Dr. Concannon in his affidavit, see CP p.263-266.

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE I: QUALIFIED PRIVILEGE**

Although Dr. Barmada's brief on qualified immunity makes repeated accusations of defamation and slander against Dr. Pridjian, there is not one statement set forth for the Court to examine as to whether or not it constitutes slander. The fact that Dr. Pridjian had a negative impression of Dr. Barmada, which he appears to share with the opinion of every other member of the heart team with the exception of part time nurse Kutlina, does not constitute an act of slander by him.

In order to constitute slander, the remarks at issue must not only be disparaging, they must be false. see *Franklin v. Thompson* 722 So.2d 688 (Miss. 1998). A qualified privilege exists between those directly interested in the same matter and, in the absence of malice, no cause of action lies. see *Hooks v. McCall* 272 So.2d 925 (Miss. 1973). Our Supreme Court has explained qualified privilege as:

A communication made in good faith and on a subject matter in which the person making it has an interest, or in reference to which he has a duty, is privileged if made to a person or persons having a corresponding interest or duty, even though it contains matter with without this privilege would be slanderous.

**Young v. Jackson**, 572 So.2d 378, 383 (Miss. 1990); see also **Benson v. Hall** 339 So.2d 570 (Miss. 1976).

# ISSUE II: MALICE, BAD FAITH, OR ABUSE SUCH AS TO OVERCOME A QUALIFIED PRIVILEGE

When qualified privilege is established, statements or written communications are not actionable as slanderous or libelous absent bad faith or malice if communications are limited to those persons who have a legitimate and direct interest in the subject matter.

Our law also finds that one who has established the existence of a qualified privilege is cloaked with a presumption of good faith. see **Benson** at 570.

When analyzing defamation claims, our Courts employ a bifurcated process.

First, they determine whether the occasion calls for a qualified privilege. If a qualified privilege does exist, then the Court must determine whether the privilege is overcome by malice, bad faith, or abuse. see *Eckman v. Cooper Tire and Rubber Company*, 893 So.2d 1049, 1052 (Miss. 2005). A showing of actual malice is required to overcome the privilege:

Actual or express malice, as distinguished from malice in law in its ordinary sense denotes ill will, a sentiment of hate or spite, especially when harbored by one person towards another, exists in one with a sedate, deliberate mind and formed designed injures another, as where the person is actuated by ill will in what he does and says, with the design to willfully and wantonly injure another.

Hayden v. Foryt, 407 So.2d 535, 539 (Miss.1982).

And:

In Newell on Slander and Libel §292, it is stated that, "If the defendant honestly believed that the plaintiff's conduct to be such as he described it, the mere fact that the used strong words in describing it is no evidence of malice. The fact that the expressions are angry and intemperate is not enough; the proof must go further and show that they are malicious."

The following rule is announced in Newell on Slander and Libel, 3d Ed., § 397: "If the evidence adduced is equally consistent with either the existence or the nonexistence of malice, there can be no recovery, for there is nothing to rebut the presumption which has arisen in favor of the defendant from the privileged communication." *Gust v. Montgomery Ward & Co.*, 229 Mo. App. 371, 80 S.W.2d 286; *Rosenberg v. Mason*, 157 Va. 215, 160 S.E. 190, 202. In the *Rosenburg* Case the court in dealing with a privileged occasion, said: "It is not sufficient in a case such as this that the evidence be consistent with the existence of actual malice, or a doubt as to his good faith. It must affirmatively prove the existence of actual malice, and to do so it must be more consistent with the existence of actual malice that with its nonexistence." (181 Miss. At 507-508, 177 So. at 771-772)

## Hayden at 540.

If the Respondent fails to present any evidence of malice and/or bad faith, then summary judgment is appropriate on a case where a qualified privilege is found to exists. see *Grice v. Fed Ex Ground Package System, Inc.*, 2006 So.2d (2005-CA-00029-COA). see also *Raiola v. Chevron U.S.A. Inc.* 872 So.2d 79 (Miss. 2004).

To prove abuse of a qualified privilege, a statement must be examined to see if the language used exceeds what was necessary in the communication made. *McCrory Court v. Istre*, 252 Miss. 679, 173 So.2d 640, 646 (1965). In the case at bar, we have no statement to examine. The fact that Dr. Barmada cannot isolate one single statement to attribute to Dr. Pridjian in proof of his claim of slander should be enough to end his legal assault against Dr. Pridjian. At best, we have a vague reference to strong words from a man who had an absolute entitlement to feel strongly about deficiencies in the heart team he was in charge of. Strong words are not evidence of malice. If nurse Kutlina was so outraged by Dr. Pridjian's comments about Dr. Barmada, why can he not remember one specific statement before a named witness or witnesses and place it in

time? Clearly, according to Kutlina's affidavit, any statement made was within the circle of the heart team at the hospital.

Hayden v. Foryt supra. is controlling and rightfully was recognized as precedent in the Trial Court's consideration of this case. Hayden involved a hospital situation much like the case at bar full of charges, countercharges, and bickering over the course of a number of years. Statements challenged were very similar to the ones at bar, accusations of arrogance, disruptive conduct, lacking qualities, and personality problems were explored. These accusations were published to all but one of the hospital medical surgical staff. In the case at bar, to Dr. Pridjian's credit, when invited by Dr. Concannon to take part in the medical review of Dr. Barmada, he declined to do so because of a possible perception of bias due to the competition for similarly situated patients.

The facts before the Court reveal that the entire medical team, surgical staff, and anesthesiologist, were all complaining about Dr. Barmada, and Dr. Pridjian as Medical Director of Cardiac Surgery, would obviously be a recipient of many of these complaints. The fact that they were not in a formal meeting does not make them any less legitimate. As Barmada does not bring forth one specific statement to be examined for malice, he cannot overcome the presumption of good faith existing in a group with such a direct interest in his perceived incompetence.

Barmada persists in trying to argue the hearsay report of Dr. Robison knowing full well that it is incompetent as evidence as it is not accompanied by an affidavit or deposition to give it evidentiary quality. The excerpts from that report, even if considered, are again conclusory and based upon a conversation Dr. Robison had with

Dr. Barmada. Furthermore, there is no testimony of any adverse statements by Dr. Pridjian following the medical review.

Barmada simply cannot rely upon unsupported, conclusory allegations to defeat a Motion for Summary Judgment where there are no issues of material facts. *Jacox v. Circus Circus Mississippi, Inc.* 908 So.2d 181, 184 (Miss. Ct. App. 205).

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Hazem Barmada uses the legal system to intimidate his peers and to try to cover his own deficiencies within his profession.

This short record before the Court evidences an attempt on his part to sue a Profusionist; his employer hospital, (CP p. 25-26); his partner Dr. Deese, (CP p. 87); anesthesiologist, Dr. Jeff Milam (CP p. 87); Dr. Concannon, and his partners; and all of the "cardiovascular surgeons" (CP pp. 260-267).

It is respectfully submitted that if Dr. Pridjian, as Medical Director of Cardiac Surgery, had not been concerned about a surgeon operating on his heart team with a mortality rate 200% higher than the average of the team as a whole, he might then had been guilty of negligence arising to an intentional tort. Dr. Pridjian has endured five years of litigation without a material fact being produced sufficient to allow this litigation to proceed any further. The Trial Judge recognized this in his Opinion, and upon review de novo by this Court he should be affirmed.